96699-1

#### Case No.

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

BluZEBRA TECHNOLOGIES, a division of COPIERS NORTHWEST, INC., a Washington Corporation, Respondent

v.

YATES, WOOD & MacDONALD, INC, a Washington Corporation, Petitioner

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

Submitted By:

Mark G. Passannante, WSB#25680 Broer & Passannante, P.S. 1001 SW 5<sup>th</sup> Avenue, #1220 Portland, Oregon 97204 (503)294-0910

#

#### A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Yates Woods & MacDonald, Inc. (hereinafter "YWM") asks this

Court to review the Court of Appeals decision terminating review

designated in part B of this petition.

#### B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION.

YWM requests the Supreme Court to review the Washington State Court of Appeals Decision in Case No. 77106-0-I, in an unpublished opinion, filed December 3, 2018 and attached as an Appendix.

YWM asks this Court to review the decision affirming the trial court's granting of summary judgment to respondent. YWM asserts that the Appellate Court erred in finding that the Copier Agreement between the parties permitted increasing the cost of black and white copies during the term of the lease and that respondent had no duty to maintain the copier during the term of the lease. YWM asserts that the Appellate Court erred in finding that respondent's failure to give notice of default as required by the parties master service agreement, phone and server lease prior to initiating its claims for breach of those agreements.

#### C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW.

The Decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision

of the Supreme Court and / or is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals.<sup>1</sup>

The appellate court properly found that respondent Bluzebra Technologies, a division of Copiers Northwest, Inc. (hereinafter "BZ") presented no evidence that either no evidence that the agreement it claims was breached was executed by BZ as that agreement clearly required for it to be effective. The appellate court erred, however, in finding that an ambiguity allowing it to use parol evidence of the parties' subsequent conduct (billing and paying for copy increases) to then find that the "Copier Program Agreement" is the parties contract. There was no ambiguity for the appellate court to resolve. The "Copier Program Agreement" unambiguously required the OWNER (BZ) to execute the Agreement. The agreement provided "THIS AGREEMENT IS NOT BINDING UPON OR EFFECTIVE UNTIL AND UNLESS WE EXECUTE THIS AGREEMENT." The court did not explain how this provision is ambiguous. The sales order does not permit increasing the monthly lease payment and is likewise not ambiguous. Absent an ambiguity for the court to clarify, the court erred by essentially finding the

RAP 13.4 (b)(1) and (2).

course of performance as suitable for altering the terms of the sales order as it relates to the monthly charges for the base number of copies per month.

The Court of Appeals further found that an email terminating one contract and silence as to the other contract amount to disregard of the notice provision in the contract as a matter of law. However, such finding is contrary to the existing Washington law, which requires notice be given if the parties negotiate for a notice in their contract.

Petitioner further requests that the Supreme Court reverse the attorney fee award pending the outcome of the trial on the merits in the Superior Court.

#### D. Statement of the Case:

#### a. Copier Program Agreement/Lease:

A second question is whether CNW may enforce the right to increase monthly payments when that right is contained in a contract that conditions its effectiveness is conditioned on execution, but the agreement has not been executed. The parties entered into a purchase agreement and lease with conflicting terms regarding the monthly payment required. One provided for a flat monthly payment of \$605.06 for 60 months, the other

provided that the monthly rate could be increased annually by no mor than 7%. The specific question is whether CNW was, as a matter of law, entitled to annually increase the monthly payment for the fixed number of copies. CNW entered into a series of contracts with YWM. The parties entered into a copier lease dated 12/6/2011. Index to Clerk's Papers, Doc. 31, pg. 226. The copier lease was evidenced by a sales order that provided for a monthly payment of \$605.06 for 60 months in exchange for copying a set number of black and white and color copies. Id. at 231. This agreement was a final and binding agreement and non-cancelable. Id. No provision was included permitting CNW to increase the monthly payment. Id.

The parties then executed a document entitled a "program agreement." <u>Id.</u> at 232., <u>Index of Clerk';s Papers</u>, Doc. 21, pg. 80, para. 6. The program agreement provided some additional terms such as the per page price of monthly copies that exceeded the monthly number permitted for \$605.06 per month. <u>Id</u>. The program agreement then declares that the \$605.06 is a minimum monthly payment. <u>Id</u>. On the reverse side, paragraph 1 of provided that CNW would provide full service and maintenance. Paragraph 2 provides that service covers normal wear and

tear, but that CNW is not responsible for any service or maintenance of the equipment. Id. at 232. Paragraph 4 provides that CNW may raise the minium monthly payment no more than 7% during the term of the agreement. Id. at 233. No additional consideration is stated for the change in price from the sales order to the program agreement. The monthly cost of the lease was unilaterally increased by CNW 4% per year. Excess copies were not addressed in the purchase order lease. During the course of the lease, YWM paid a total of \$3,022.74 over and above the \$605.06/month for the allotted number of copies.

In March 2016, YWM inquired about the cost of paying of the lease early and purchasing the copier. <u>Clerk's Papers</u>, Doc. 31 pg. 237. CNW responded with the monthly lease payments left on the agreement and the option of either paying the residual and purchasing the copier or returning the copier to CNW. <u>Id</u>. at 236. YWM elected to pay the remaining monthly lease payments in advance and the residual buy out. <u>Id</u>. at 235. No further writing memorializing the agreement occurred and no document terminating the lease agreement was executed. YWM paid the demanded sum. <u>Id</u>. at 226. In April 2016, YWM noticed that routine maintenance had not been completed on the copier maintenance had not

been completed and requested service from CNW. <u>Id.</u> at 245-251, CNW refused to undertake service stating that they were under no obligation to provide service despite accepting all lease payments through the end of the lease in advance. The Declaration of John Hines states that the copier was sold as is with no warranty, but references an exhibit (h) that does not mention the copier. Clerk's Papers, doc. #21, pg. 87. para. 31.

In March 2016, CNW sent an invoice for remaining excess copies totaling \$508.22. It is not disputed that this invoice was not paid, but the sums are not owed due to the previous overpayments and CNW's refusal to undertake maintenance during the period of lease prepayment.

On September 28, 2012, CNW and YWM entered into a Master Service Agreement to provide network services. <u>Id</u>. at 263-272. Despite the termination of the parties agreement, CNW continued to invoice YWM for such services from October 2015 through February 2016 with YWM paying the invoices. <u>Id</u>. para. 29. YWM refused to pay subsequent invoices for March 2016 and April 2016. <u>Id</u>. YWM did not receive any back up data or access to its data either at termination or upon request. <u>Id</u>. at 231, para. 26.

Both the master client services agreement and phone lease require

written notice of default as a condition to termination and an action for damage. Clerk's Papers, Doc. 31, pg. 254 and 264.

#### E. Argument

Granting of Summary Judgment

The standard of review for an Order Granting Summary Judgment is de novo. The appellate court undertakes the same inquiry as the trial  $court^2$ . In reviewing a grant of summary judgment, the reviewing court should view the facts and reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party, here that is respondent.  $\frac{3}{2}$ 

#### A. The copier lease.

The sales order is a contract as it contains all the essential elements of a contract. Plaintiff in their original motion for summary judgment contended that this order was replaced by a subsequently executed Copier Program Agreement. No evidence was presented that the Copier Program Agreement was later executed. The agreements were executed by YWM on the same day. The declaration of Hines provides no foundation for the contention that the purchase order only provided "initial terms which were

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Ruvalcaba v. Ho Baek, 175 Wash. 2d 1 (2012)

Michak v. Transnation Title Insurance Co. 148 Wash. 2d, 788 (2003).

satisfactory" and that the parties entered into a more detailed copier program agreement later that same day. Clerk's Papers, Doc. #21, pg. 80.

Mr. Hines provides no foundation for the declaration and the declaration itself is contradicted by the purchase order which states it is a final and binding contract. Clerk's Papers, Doc. 31, pg. 232. The sales order obligated CNW to lease the identified copier for 60 months at a cost to YWM of \$605.06. The monthly cost is for a set number of black and white as well as color copies each month. There is no provision authorizing CNW to unilaterally increase the monthly cost of the lease for the copies permitted copies provided in the sales order.

The Copier Program Agreement provides for additional terms, most notably a provision for charging for excess copies used by YWM during the term of the agreement. The program agreement provided for a monthly minimum payment of \$605.06 for a minimum number of impressions and an additional cost per page for copies over a certain amount per month. The copier agreements were drafted by the plaintiff and presented to YWM. <u>Id.</u>

Neither agreement was signed by a representative of CNW. The program agreement, states that "Once we accept this agreement, you

may not cancel at any time during the term." Clerk's Papers, Doc. #21, pg. 99. The program agreement further states that "THIS AGREEMENT IS NOT BINDING UPON US OR EFFECTIVE UNTIL AND UNLESS WE EXECUTE THIS AGREEMENT." Clerk's Papers, Doc. #21, pg. 98. No such limitation to its effectiveness is contained in the sale order setting the amount of copies covered by the agreed upon monthly charge and the monthly charge. Having conditioned enforcement and effectiveness of the agreement only upon their signature, CNW's failure to execute the agreement means the parties reached no agreement on terms outside of the purchase order. As a result, CNW had no right to increase the minimum monthly payments and has demonstrated no contractual right to charge for excess copies in the amounts it charged YWM in March 2016.

Even if the court were to accept the program agreement as not so conditioned, the lack of a signature and requirement of the same as a condition to effectiveness is evidence that the integration clause does not control the parties' understanding. Integration clauses are a strong

See Pacific Food Products, Co. V. Mukal, 196 Wash. 656 (1938)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Badgett v Security State Bank, 116 Wash 2d 563, 569-570 (1991).

indication that the parties intended complete integration of a written agreement, however, they will not be given effect if it appears the provision is factually false.<sup>6</sup> In such cases, parol evidence can be used to show whether denial of the existence of any other agreement is controlling.<sup>7</sup>

Here, there is both intrinsic and extrinsic evidence demonstrating that the purchase order is, in fact, controlling, at least of the, agreed upon monthly number of copies in exchange for the monthly payment. The purchase order itself is a binding non-cancelable contract with CNW.

CNW did not include any provision that conditioned its enforcement on mutual execution. In addition, the program agreement listed both the number of copies and monthly payment as minimums. Nowhere in the record were the minimum monthly copies raised an amount corresponding to the new minimum monthly payment charged by CNW. That is, YWM was only permitted to make the same amount of monthly copies for the monthly charge that it was invoiced throughout the lease term. That evidence, combined with the purchase order forming a non-cancelable

Black v. Evergreen Land Developers, Inc., 75 Wash. 2d 241 (1969)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Id

contract and setting a fixed rate for a fixed number of copies is evidence that the integration clause was, factually, false and should not be enforced.

As detailed to the trial court, the additional payments made by YWM more than exceed the amount (even assuming that CNW could charge for those copies on a copier it had sold) alleged by CNW as due for copies above and beyond the copies covered by YWM monthly payments. These overcharges must be considered in determining whether the invoice in question is, in fact due and owing by YWM. Generally a plaintiff, in an action for breach of contract is entitled to his net gain that he would have realized had the contract been performed. Munson v. McGregor, 49 Wash. 276 (1908). Due to the years of overcharging YWM, CNW has no net gain that it would have realized even if it could prove entitlement to additional sums for copies above the monthly allotment in the purchase order.

# B. Telephone System Lease

On 3/2/13 YWM and CNW entered into an agreement to lease a ShoreTel telephone System from plaintiff, a network VoIP switch and 33 ShoreTel phones from BZ at the rate of \$665.00 per month for 60 months plus Tax. The contracted for amount included monthly "maintenance and

management" of the phone system. Plaintiff made clear that their promise to provide a phone solution included support. Out of the \$665.00 monthly payment, \$200.00 per month was attributed to management and maintenance.

Nowhere in the contract are the terms "maintenance and management" defined, but the phone proposal clearly stated it includes support. Courts will give terms in a contract their plain and ordinary meaning unless the entirety of the agreement demonstrates a different intent. Hearst Communications v. Seattle Times Co., 154 Wash. 2d. 493 (2006). "Support can also mean the personal assistance vendors provide to technicians and end users concerning hardware, operating systems and programs. The term is frequently associated with telephone help lines provided by most vendors..... The best customer of technical support consists of real time conversations between end users and knowledgeable representatives for the vendor." whatis.techtarget.com. That is the plain and ordinary meaning of support and is encompassed by a management and maintenance agreement. This was made clear because, at the time that the solution was offered, CNW specifically represented that their services included support without a separate line item for the charge or a limitation

on the length of time that support was provided. Here the vendor was CNW. CNW promised to provide on going monthly management and maintenance, which most people would believe includes answering questions regarding the phone system and helping solve problems such as the one that occurred in March 2016.

CNW claims to fill in the void of missing facts as to the definitions of what "maintenance and management" actually means vs. the word "support." The declaration fails to note that at the time, plaintiff's proposal included support. What most people would consider part of an agreement to also manage and maintain the phone system. The declaration contradicts what CNW said when initially queried for help with the phone system. Clerk's Papers, Doc. #33. CNW confirmed that they contract out support. Id. Then when it became clear that CNW's contractor did not support the phone system plaintiff promised to maintain and manage, CNW for the first time stated that support is not included in the management contract without further explanation.

Yates understood the ordinary and usual meaning of the words "maintenance and management" and what they were paying for was a company that could solve its phone problems throughout the course of the lease. YWM's understanding is consistent with the commonly understood meaning of support and well within the reasonable expectation of a party who is paying \$200.00 per month for management and maintenance of their phone system in an agreement where support is specifically included in the proposal. YWM has offered no evidence to support its contention that their support of the phone system was limited to one year.

Apparently, plaintiff did but did not incorporate any such limitation in their promises to Yates.. The proposal given to YWM provided that the agreement includes "all installation costs and support." Clerk's Papers, Doc. 34.t

Lastly, the phones and master client service agreement both require written notice as a perquisite to an action and termination. A party that bargains for notice, has a right to such notice. 

8 The maxim that a useless act does not apply to notice and cure requirements. 

1d. citing Republic Investment Company v. Naches Hotel Co., 190 Wash. 176 (1938) which held "Having failed to give the notice required under the terms of the lease, this action cannot be maintained for cancellation of the lease or for damages for breach. 

1d. at 182.

DC Farms, LLC v. Conagra Foods Lamb Weston, Inc. 179 Wash. App. 205 (2014)

Lastly, the contract provides that failure to pay is an event of default. However, the contract also provides for remedies in the event of default. Written notice is a pre-requisite to acceleration and to sue for and receive all rental payments due under the contract and accelerate the balance of such rental payments. CNW offered no evidence that it provided YWM any written notice of default. The Master Client Services Agreement required ten days written notice and an opportunity to cure. Payments were made on this and the phone agreement until, CNW failed to honor its agreements by failing to provide licenses and thereafter providing the code so YWM could access the local server. A party that bargains for notice, has a right to such notice. <sup>9</sup> The maxim that a useless act does not apply to notice and cure requirements. <sup>10</sup>

#### D. Managed Network Services:

CNW failed to provide Yates with the contracted for services under the Managed Network Services Agreement. Additionally, the MNSA did

DC Farms, LLC v. Conagra Foods Lamb Weston, Inc. 179 Wash. App. 205 (2014)

<sup>10 &</sup>lt;u>Id. citing Republic Investment Company v. Naches Hotel Co.</u>, 190 Wash. 176 (1938) which held "Having failed to give the notice required under the terms of the lease, this action cannot be maintained for cancellation of the lease or for damages for breach. Id. at 182.

not have a roll over provision and was confirmed that it ended on 9/25/15. Holmes. Nathan Mumm confirmed no roll over and stated that he would consider the date of 3/15/16 as termination date. Nothing in the agreement provided a requirement for a 30 day notice to terminate and the agreement by its terms expired on September 25, 2015, no further payments are due to plaintiff under that agreement. A contract that, by its terms has expired is not actionable for breach. "The second reason is that a contract which by its terms has expired is legally defunct and, since the vitality which it once had has ceased, there is nothing upon which an extension may legally operate. So long as a contract remains executory, the parties thereto, acting upon sufficient consideration, may by agreement rescind, alter, modify, supplement, or replace it; but when the contract has terminated or been extinguished, it is no longer subject to extension, for extension implies an existing agreement. To bring the terms of an extinguished contract into renewed existence requires a new contract embodying such terms." 11

No evidence was presented to the trial court that a new agreement entered into after expiration of the network services agreement was

11

Pavey v. Collins, 31 Wash. 2d. 864, 871 (1948).

entered into between YWM and CNW. YWM, having paid the monthly payments through September 25, 2015 owes nothing further under this agreement. CNW argued to the trial court that the Master Client Service Agreement had not terminated, but this is no help to their claim for network services invoiced in March and April 2016. That agreement provides that the terms of the statement of work (i.e. the network services agreement) controls. Clerk's Papers, Doc. #31, pg. 263. Having no contract to provide and require payment of such services, the operative contract having expired by its terms, CNW cannot claim that a failure to pay invoices for such services is a breach of contract entitling it to damages.

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