FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
1/16/2019 4:01 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 96699-1

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

BluZEBRA TECHNOLOGIES, a division of COPIERS NORTHWEST, INC., a Washington corporation,

Respondent,

v.

YATES WOOD & MacDONALD, INC., a Washington corporation,

Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Nold Muchinsky PLLC

Brian M. Muchinsky, WSBA #31860 Nafees Uddin, WSBA #46730 Attorneys for Respondent 10500 NE 8th Street, Suite 930 Bellevue, WA 98004 Telephone: (425) 289-5555 bmuchinsky@noldmuchlaw.com nuddin@noldmuchlaw.com

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

On March 31, 2016, BZ provided Yates an invoice for services such as "Backup Disaster Recovery" and "Email Hosting" for the period between February 28 and March 27, 2016 in the amount of \$1,965.68 (\$1,793.50 pre-tax). (CP 177.) This work was authorized and performed pursuant to Section 1 of the Agreement. (CP 103.) On April 28, 2016, BZ provided Yates an invoice for these same backup and email hosting services for the period between March 28, 2016 and April 27, 2016 in the amount of \$1,942.10 (\$1,771.90 pre-tax). (CP 179.) Yates never paid the foregoing Invoices. (CP 87.)

Yates does not dispute that the services were provided. (CP 87.)

While Yates could not speak to specific invoices, when presented with

BZ's evidence of unpaid invoices, Holmes admitted that the work was

done. (CP 163.)

3. Breach of Telephone Lease.

BZ billed Yates \$728.83 per month pursuant to the Telephone
Lease. (CP 122-23.) In April 2016, with 27 months remaining, Yates
refused to make further payments, but did not return the equipment. (CP
87.) Proof of this invoice was provided to the trial court. (CP 183.)

4. Breach of Server Lease.

BZ billed Yates \$594.31 per month (\$542.25 pre-tax) pursuant to the Server Lease. (See Server Lease, CP 141; invoice, CP 183.) With 27 months remaining, Yates refused to make further payments, but did not return the equipment. (CP 88.) BZ's damages were calculated with precision. (CP 88-89.)

D. Yates' Answer and Counterclaims Do Not Allege the Materiality of the Absence of a Notice of Default.

BZ sued on August 18, 2016. On October 21, 2016, Yates alleged the following three affirmative defenses:

- 1. "Accord and Satisfaction"
- 2. "Lack of an Enforceable contract"; and
- "Laches."

(CP 8.)

Yates alleged various defenses and counterclaims, but did not allege that it was entitled to a notice of default or that the lack of one was material in any respect. (CP 8-13.)

E. Yates Opposes Summary Judgment with Inadmissible Declarations, Misattribution to Declarations, Hearsay, and Declaration Testimony Contradicted by Deposition Testimony.

On April 14, 2017, BZ moved for summary judgment. (CP 49-78.)
Yates offered four declarations in response: from Mark Holmes, Nancy
Darlington, Jamie Emerson and counsel (Mark Passannante). (CP 442-

605.) None of them indicated the place of signing or asserted that they were made under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of Washington. (Id.) Nowhere in the summary judgment briefing does Yates allege that BZ failed to provide notice of default or an opportunity to cure. (Id.)

After the deadline to submit evidence, Yates filed "corrected" declarations. (CP 225; CP 369; CP 376; CP 383.) BZ timely objected and moved to strike. (CP 390.) The trial court only considered the timely filed (deficient) declarations. (CP 401.)

F. The Court of Appeals Affirms in an Unpublished Decision; Also Relying Solely on the Deficient Declarations.

The Court of Appeals affirmed on December 3, 2018. (Opinion.)
The court stated explicitly: "We do not consider the untimely corrected declarations." (Id., p. 8.)

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review – Petition.

RAP 13.4(b) provides four criteria by which this Court decides whether to accept review:

(1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves

an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b).

Yates purports to rely on the first two criteria. (Petition, p. 5.)

B. The Utter Lack of Admissible Evidence Constitutes a Sufficient Basis to Deny Review.

As explained above, Yates submitted no admissible evidence in opposition to summary judgment. (CP 401.) To defeat summary judgment, a party must submit **admissible** evidence showing a genuine issue for trial. *White v. State*, 131 Wn.2d 1, 9, 929 P.2d 396 (1997). An appellate court may only consider such evidence. *Dunlap v. Wayne*, 105 Wn.2d 529, 535-36, 719 P.2d 842 (1986). Both courts below only considered the evidence because it did not create a genuine issue of material fact. (Id.; Opinion, p. 8.) Whether this consideration was error or a courtesy, in neither event must this Court repeat the practice.

C. The Enforcement of the Copier Rate Increase Does Not Create Conflict with Any Authority; Indeed, Petitioner's Theory Is Novel under Washington Law.

Yates argues that the Court of Appeals erred in allowing BZ to increase the rate charged for copies pursuant to the Copier Program Agreement. (CP 97.) Yates argues that since the agreement was never signed by BZ, it is unenforceable. And **further**, that the unenforceability of the agreement results in the enforcement of an antecedent writing – a

sales order. And as that document does not provide for rate increases, presumably it would then entitle Yates to static rates in perpetuity.

Yates cites *Pacific Food Prods. Co. v. Mukai*, 196 Wash. 656, 94 P.2d 131 (1938) for the proposition that "CNW's failure to execute the agreement means the parties reached no agreement on terms outside of the purchase order." (Petition, p. 12.) In *Pacific*, a broker prepared an agreement to sell strawberries. The agreement was cancelled by the seller prior to signature, citing insufficient supply. *Pacific*, 196 Wash. at 660.

The case does not create a conflict with the Opinion. Indeed, ironically, the Court declined Appellant's request to enforce an antecedent writing (a sales order). Instead, it held: "[u]ntil it became a binding contract, either could withdraw." *Id.* at 663. Thus, the Court ruled that no contract was formed.

The case does not hold that when one party does not sign an agreement that is then performed for several years, that the agreement remains ineffective and the antecedent writing (in this case, a purchase order) remains or becomes binding. Indeed, the case vitiates Yates' position: "The fact that the parties do intend a subsequent agreement to be made is strong evidence to show that they do not intend the previous negotiations to amount to any proposal or acceptance." *Id.* at 665.

Yates then cites *Badgett v. Security State Bank*, 116 Wn.2d 563, 569-70, 807 P.2d 356 (1991) for the proposition that "CNW had no right to increase the minimum monthly payments and has demonstrated no contractual right to charge for excess copies[.]" (Petition, p. 12.)

The legal proposition contained at that citation is:

However, the duty of good faith does not extend to obligate a party to accept a material change in the terms of its contract. Nor does it inject substantive terms into the parties' contract. Rather, it requires only that the parties perform in good faith the obligations imposed by their agreement. Thus, the duty arises only in connection with terms agreed to by the parties.

Badgett, 116 Wn.2d at 569-570 (internal quotation and citations omitted).

Nothing in the Opinion conflicts with this unremarkable proposition. Ironically, Yates seems to be arguing that the Court of Appeals inserted a provision into the parties' agreement. The opposite is true; it enforced the agreement as written and performed for several years.

Next, Yates cites *Black v. Evergreen Land Developers*, 75 Wn.2d 241, 450 P.2d 470 (1969) (with no pinpoint cite) for the proposition that "[Integration clauses] will not be given effect if it appears the provision is factually false. In such cases, parol evidence can be used to show whether denial of the existence of any other agreement is controlling." (Petition, p. 13.)

Here, the Court of Appeals did not cite an integration clause to preclude consideration of an earlier writing. To the contrary: it looked to parol evidence to discern the meaning of the parties' agreement. As the CPA was signed and performed by Yates for several years, the trial court and Court of Appeals could (and did) reasonably conclude that it – not the antecedent writing – formed the agreement between the parties.

None of the cases cited by Yates create a basis for review. More fundamentally, Yates is simply incorrect in its proposition that a party seeking enforcement of an agreement must execute it. "A valid written agreement can exist without one party's signature; acceptance of a written contract may be implied from conduct as well as words." *Shelcon Constr. Grp., LLC v. Haymond*, 187 Wn. App. 878, 894-95, 351 P.3d 895, 904 (2015) (quoting *Sanwick v. Puget Sound Title Ins. Co.*, 70 Wn.2d 438, 443, 423 P.2d 624 (1967)).

Finally, even the foregoing otherwise demonstrated an issue for review, Yates clearly waived its right to object to the increases by paying them for several years. Waiver is the intentional and voluntarily relinquishment of a known right. 224

Westlake, LLC v. Engstrom Props., LLC, 169 Wn. App. 700, 281 P.3d 693 (2012).

The conclusion is as legally sound as it is factually inescapable: Yates agreed to pay annual increases in the cost of copies. This makes sense, as BZ's costs associated with these copies also increase over time. Yates paid those increases for years. None of the Yates' arguments undermine this fact; let alone create a basis for review by this Court.

D. The Opinion Does Not Conflict with Any Authority, Despite the Lack of a Notice of Default in the Record, Where The Notice Issue Was Not Raised Below and Is Resolved By Undisputed Factual Findings.

Finally, Yates argues that "this action cannot be maintained" because "the phones and master client services agreement both require written notice as a perquisite to an action and termination." (Petition, p. 17.) This proposition is factually incorrect, legally incorrect and was not timely raised.

No formal notice of default is in the record. There is nothing in the trial court record on this issue because it was not raised in either Yates' Answer or in its response to summary judgment. (CP 6-14; CP 211-223.) It was raised for the first time in Yates' Opening Brief at the Court of Appeals.

Pursuant to RAP 2.5(a), "[a] failure to preserve a claim of error by presenting it first to the trial court generally means the issue is waived." *Karlberg v. Otten*, 167 Wn.App. 522, 531, 280 P.3d 1123 (2012) (citing *Bellevue Sch. Dist. No. 405 v. Lee*, 70 Wn.2d 947, 950, 425 P.2d 902 (1967)).

"While an appellate court retains the discretion to consider an issue raised for the first time on appeal, such discretion is rarely exercised."

Karlberg, 167 Wn.App. at 531 (citing Smith v. Shannon, 100 Wn.2d 26, 38, 666 P.2d 351 (1983)). RAP 2.5(a) "reflects a policy of encouraging the efficient use of judicial resources and refusing to sanction a party's failure to point out an error that the trial court, if given the opportunity, might have been able to correct to avoid an appeal." In re Guardianship of Cornelius, 181 Wn. App. 513, 533, 326 P.3d 718 (2014).

The purposes behind this rule are particularly important here. Had Yates raised this issue to the trial court, BZ would have had the opportunity to present evidence that it did provide written notice of default. Assuming *arguendo* that there was no such evidence, the trial court could have determined the appropriate remedy when there was no dispute that Yates retained the benefit of the telephones and the server for which BZ sued for payment. It would be grossly unfair to BZ to accept

review – and potentially remand – on an issue ignored by Yates until appeal.

Furthermore, neither agreement makes "written notice" mandatory in order to maintain an action. The Telephone Lease (and Server Lease) each purport to require written notice (with no opportunity to cure) if BZ wishes to pursue the remedy of acceleration. (CP 123; CP 142.) No written notice is required for the other remedies. (Id.)

The Master Client Services Agreement generally delegates remedies to the statements of work and other documents, but also clearly makes notice optional:

In the event that Client commits a material breach. . . Company shall have the right, **but not the obligation**, to terminate immediately this Agreement. . . provided that (i) the Company has notified Client of the specific details of the breach in writing, and (ii) Client has not cured the default within ten (10) days following receipt of written notice from the Company."

(CP 104, emphasis added.)

Yates cites two cases on this issue: *DC Farms, LLC v. Conagra Foods Lam Weston, Inc.*, 179 Wn. App. 205, 317 P.3d 543 (2014) and *Republic Investment Company v. Naches Hotel Co.*, 190 Wash. 176, 67 P.2d 858 (1937). Yates cites the former to posit the virtually axiomatic proposition that "A party that bargains for notice, has a right to such notice." (Petition, p. 18.)

In *DC Farms*, a contract required notice and an opportunity to cure prior to rejecting potatoes. *DC Farms*, 179. Wn. App. 218. Pursuant to the agreement, the term "default" was defined as an event "that remains uncured after receipt of seven (7) days written notice of default…" (Id.)

The purchaser purported to reject the goods without providing the opportunity to replace the goods. (Id.) As such, the court ruled that there was no default as defined the contract. (Id.)

Similarly, in *Republic*, a real property lease contained a 60 day right to cure a monetary breach prior to the commencement of litigation. 179-180. Thus, there was no default until the cure period had lapsed and the commencement of litigation prior to a default vitiated the right to the requested relief. (Id.)

Even if Yates had raised this issue timely, the Opinion does not conflict with any existing authority as necessary to authorize review.

Neither of the agreements conditions the finding of default or breach on the issuance of a notice or opportunity to cure. "YOU are in default of this Agreement if any of the following occurs: (a) you fail to pay..." (CP 123, Section 12.) "Company shall have the right, but not the obligation, to terminate..." (CP 104.) There is no requirement of notice prior to the existence of a default. The default exists pursuant to the contracts independent of notice.

This is a critical distinction that obviates any conflict between the Opinion and the cited authority. The authority holds that where a condition to a contractual default is not met, there is no default. That authority is wholly inapplicable to the agreements at issue.

Further, as explained by the Court of Appeals, in this case Holmes unambiguously terminated the Master Client Services Agreement in writing. (Opinion p. 21.) The telephone and server leases are incorporated into that agreement by reference. (Id.) As such, Yates did not need and was not entitled to notice of a termination that Holmes himself initiated.

Holmes may well have not intended to terminate those agreements, but rather to simply keep the goods and not pay for them. Because he did not raise this issue below, there is no basis in the record to know. But as the record stands, the Holmes email constitutes an anticipatory repudiation of the agreements. See *CKP*, *Inc.*, *v. GRS Constr. Co.*, 63 Wn. App. 601, 620, 821 P.2d 63 (1991), *review denied*, 120 Wn.2d 1010, 841 P.2d 47 (1992).

Finally, as is not disputed, Yates retained the server and phones. It posits that the lack of notice strips BZ of all right of recovery, but this would create a patently unjust result. "A person who is unjustly enriched at the expense of another is liable in restitution to the other." *Mazon v*.

Krafchick, 158 Wn.2d 440, 458, 144 P.3d 1168 (2006). An appellate court can affirm on any basis presented in the pleadings and record. *LaMon v. Butler*, 112 Wn.2d 193, 200-01, 770 P.2d 1027 (1989). There is no legal theory under which Yates gets to keep the equipment and not pay for it. As such, there is simply no reason for this Court to accept review.

V. CONCLUSION

Yates received the benefit of BZ's goods and services. To avoid paying for them, Yates invented factual excuses that were wholly unsupported below (indeed, no admissible evidence was offered in opposition to summary judgment and the briefing attributed facts to declarations that were not in them). As those excuses failed at the trial court and before the Court of Appeals, what remains are bizarre legal propositions that purport to strip BZ of the right to increase the charge for copies on an annual basis and to pursue remedies in the event of an undisputed default -- despite not raising the issue below.

The Opinion is not in conflict with any existing authority. This Court should deny review and award BZ its attorney fees and costs incurred in opposing review.